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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the Committee on Contracts. My

          4  name is Robert Jackson. Our Counsel is to my left,

          5  Rob Newman, Anne Krebs is our Policy Analyst. Today

          6  we will be discussing Intro. 501, a bill that would

          7  require all contractors on Public Works projects in

          8  the City of New York to offer State-approved

          9  apprenticeship training to their trainees.

         10                 A workforce development is an

         11  important component of our efforts to bring our

         12  economy out of its current slump.

         13                 Better trained workers are more

         14  valuable for employers, produce better products and

         15  command higher wages.

         16                 In particular, the construction

         17  industry, which appears to be at the head of the

         18  economic recovery we hope is coming, has an

         19  ever-growing need for skilled workers.

         20                 I can't emphasize enough the

         21  importance of skilled construction workers in the

         22  City, and not just for City-owned structures

         23  everywhere.

         24                 Construction workers who are

         25  well-trained are safer worksites and safer, better
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          2  built buildings.

          3                 Recognizing the City's interest in

          4  workforce development and in high quality

          5  construction, the State Legislature recently passed

          6  a law that allowed the state locality, including the

          7  City of New York to require that public work

          8  construction contractors have state-approved

          9  apprenticeship training programs.

         10                 As you will hear today,

         11  state-approved programs provide trainees with

         12  intensive practical in-classroom training, training

         13  that can help ensure that a worker works safe and

         14  earns a living, decent, affordable wage.

         15                 Furthermore, a state-approved program

         16  must contain a strong equal opportunity component,

         17  making sure that minorities and women have the same

         18  opportunity as others to enter a particular trade.

         19                 Many counties, such as Albany,

         20  Nassau, Suffolk, Rockland, Orange and Dutchess have

         21  enacted legislation similar to Intro. 501, and so

         22  have the State Dormitory Authority, and the Port

         23  Authority of New York and New Jersey and the School

         24  Construction Authority, to name a few.

         25                 Importantly, this bill is supported
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          2  by employers, and employees or organizations, and

          3  that's understandable, since both employers and

          4  employees benefit from better trained workers.

          5                 I want to thank the Speaker and my

          6  co-sponsor for this important bill for support, as

          7  well as all the others who have signed on, and

          8  especially the staff of the Contracts Committee, and

          9  to the other unions involved, such as the Mason

         10  Tenders and Mike Maguire and the employers.

         11                 With that, I would like to introduce

         12  the first person that's going to give testimony

         13  today. Oh, I'm sorry, my colleague Margarita Lopez

         14  from Manhattan is to my right. Margarita, good

         15  afternoon.

         16                 Marla Simpson, who is the Director of

         17  the Mayor's Office of Contracts.

         18                 Good afternoon, Ms. Simpson.

         19                 MS. SIMPSON: Hello, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 As Director of the Mayor's Office of

         21  Contracts, which now incorporates the Mayor's Office

         22  of Construction, I am pleased to appear here today

         23  to offer our preliminary comments on behalf of the

         24  Administration concerning Intro. No. 501. I'm joined

         25  here today by Barbara Kearse, who runs the Vendor
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          2  Enrollment Center, she's on my staff, and that is

          3  part of my technology group at the Mayor's Office of

          4  Contracts.

          5                 As Section 1 of this bill aptly

          6  expresses, apprenticeship programs can play a vital

          7  role in our City's workforce and economic

          8  development strategy, as well as in promoting worker

          9  health and safety.

         10                 The Administration has included

         11  requirements for apprenticeship programs in the

         12  proposed coordinated construction act for Lower

         13  Manhattan, which we have submitted to the State

         14  Legislature.

         15                 In the reconstruction of Lower

         16  Manhattan, which will involve many complex and large

         17  scale construction projects, we believe these

         18  programs will enhance our rebuilding effort and

         19  further our economic development goal.

         20                 While we share the goals of Intro.

         21  501, we have several strategies for achieving them

         22  and would like to share some initial concerns with

         23  the one-size fits all approach.

         24                 One such concern in the currently

         25  budget environment is that we have not yet had a
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          2  chance in the brief time that we had to prepare for

          3  this hearing to begin to guess at the potential cost

          4  implications of the imposition of this requirement,

          5  and we have not yet seen any figures that may have

          6  been prepared by the Council on this question.

          7                 As you know, City construction

          8  projects span a very wide range of size and

          9  complexity. They run from playground improvement,

         10  library roof replacements and bathroom installations

         11  to massive water tunnel projects peer stabilization

         12  efforts and bridge repair.

         13                 Many of our projects fall within

         14  relatively low cost thresholds. We have not yet been

         15  able to estimate the impact that an across the board

         16  requirement such as this Intro. 501 might have on

         17  our ability to undertake some of those small

         18  projects.

         19                 For example, the work that we do

         20  through the Parks Department, the library system or

         21  even some of our small scale housing rehab jobs.

         22                 On those jobs, which are often

         23  funded, thank you very much, with Council

         24  assistance, we work with a very broad range of

         25  companies and that reaches one that we're constantly
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          2  trying to broaden.

          3                 Just last Friday, in fact, as many of

          4  you know, Mayor Bloomberg announced an important

          5  initiative to reinvigorate the City's Minority and

          6  Women-Owned Business Enterprise Program, which is

          7  run by the Department of Small Business Services.

          8                 This initiative specifically targets

          9  City procurement, including procurement by the

         10  construction agency.

         11                 It is designed, along with companion

         12  efforts that are targeted at locally based small

         13  business, to help those companies access contract

         14  opportunities, better prepare them to compete for

         15  such business successfully and help them navigate

         16  the procurement process as they win contracts.

         17                 Difficult issues remain in the

         18  ability of smaller contractors to create and operate

         19  qualifying apprenticeship programs under the

         20  applicable state regulations. Yet, many small

         21  contractors, we believe have the requisite expertise

         22  and experience to undertake much of the kind of

         23  construction work that we require.

         24                 Our contracts can provide those

         25  companies with important opportunities to grow their
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          2  businesses and keep them vital.

          3                 This, too, should be a key element of

          4  our workforce and economic development strategy, and

          5  especially since we know that small business

          6  constitutes about 98 percent of our total City

          7  business and employs about 50 percent of its

          8  workforce.

          9                 In sum, since those City construction

         10  projects span such a wide range, we believe that we

         11  can benefit from an equally broad range of workforce

         12  and economic development tools, each of which we can

         13  target to the issues, targets and areas where it is

         14  most likely to prove successful.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  begin this dialogue today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I want to

         18  thank you for coming and sharing the opinion of the

         19  Office of the Mayor concerning this particular

         20  matter, and you as the Director of the Mayor's

         21  Office of Contracts.

         22                 Right now do you have any general or

         23  specific changes to this bill that you would address

         24  your concerns at all? Because this hearing is

         25  opening, it's not etched in stone. We're seeking
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          2  input from everyone in order to try to bring about a

          3  law that will be workable for everyone?

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: We do appreciate that.

          5  In the last couple of days I have reached out and

          6  spoken with the procurement and construction staff

          7  at a couple of our City agencies, they're just

          8  beginning to learn about this bill and they need to

          9  come up to speed on the program. I'm sure that some

         10  of the material that the Council obtains today, your

         11  staff will be kind enough to share with us.

         12                 I think that what we would like to do

         13  is get additional information from the construction

         14  agencies about the nature of their projects, the

         15  nature of the vendors that they work with.

         16                 And, again, we've done some outreach

         17  to vendor organizations as well, we know you have as

         18  well. We're going to listen to all of that feedback,

         19  and perhaps we'll have some more specific ideas in

         20  the near future and obviously the Mayor's

         21  legislative affairs group will be happy to continue

         22  that dialogue with you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, anything

         24  that you receive that you feel that you would like

         25  to share with us, please don't wait until a hearing
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          2  or anything, just have whoever in your office

          3  contact our counsel Rob Newman, share that with us

          4  and vice versa.

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: Thank you very much,

          6  sir. We will.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Council Member

          8  Lopez, any questions?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am curious

         10  about the testimony you gave. I have the impression

         11  and you can correct me if I'm wrong on this, that

         12  you're trying to indicate that this bill would be

         13  something that you look at it as long as it's not

         14  embracing every single project that the City have

         15  out there for the purpose of construction or the

         16  contracts in the library?

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: I think, again, we just

         18  began working on this bill I guess within the last

         19  week when we were notified about this hearing, so

         20  the one thing that I would say upfront, which is,

         21  you know, obvious, is that we did look at this

         22  question for the Lower Manhattan Initiative. We had

         23  some time, because we spent a lot of effort with I

         24  think probably six or seven city agencies to craft

         25  the bill that went to the State Legislature for the
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          2  coordinated construction act. There I think our

          3  construction agencies were quite comfortable that

          4  this was a rational and useful requirement to put

          5  into the Lower Manhattan Initiative.

          6                 I can't tell you that in the last

          7  week we've gotten much past that. We're trying to

          8  figure out where else this kind of a tool should be

          9  targeted. I don't yet have an answer to that

         10  question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What was the

         12  rationale of the Administration in thinking that

         13  this is applicable to our Lower Manhattan

         14  reconstruction?

         15                 MS. SIMPSON: I can give you at least

         16  two ideas that I've heard in discussions in the last

         17  week. There may be more reasons. But the two ideas

         18  that I've heard are that, one -- one of my

         19  electronic contraptions was making a continuous

         20  noise.

         21                 Two ideas that were floated that I

         22  think probably went into that decision are one that

         23  we are doing such a high proportion of projects with

         24  state and federal partners and with state and

         25  federal funding, and indeed the agencies that do
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          2  construction with those programs have a track

          3  record. Again, I was just at DEP the other day

          4  talking to them about their construction projects

          5  with State and federal money, and they have been

          6  participating in programs that are linked to that

          7  funding for some time.

          8                 I think we had a universe of

          9  experience that we knew how it would work and the

         10  agencies were comfortable that because the Lower

         11  Manhattan Initiative would have so much of that type

         12  of work it made sense, both because of the source of

         13  the funding and the scale of the project. That would

         14  be the other issue that was raised, that there we

         15  were talking about a large scale project and the

         16  nature of the vendors and the fact that we would be

         17  using joint bidding, there were a lot of sort of

         18  economies of scale but it was felt this would be a

         19  requirement we could be comfortable with and still

         20  be able to assure the taxpayers that we were getting

         21  value for, as well as obviously meeting these other

         22  economic development goals that we have.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then in other

         24  words, if I understood that correctly you're talking

         25  about that it's also recommendable because the
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          2  federal government and the state government had

          3  certain requirements?

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: And a history, a track

          5  record. I mean, again, it was something that these

          6  were the type of projects that our agencies were

          7  used to working in partnership with the State and

          8  federal government, they knew how at work we were

          9  comfortable that it could easily be implemented. We

         10  don't have that same track record with some City

         11  capital projects that, you know, are at the lower

         12  dollar threshold with agencies that don't typically

         13  operate with federal or state money.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The second

         15  question I want to ask you is in regard of the

         16  dollars that are allocated into the NYCHA complex. A

         17  federal law that was passed a long time ago, that

         18  speak about something that is called Section 3,

         19  inside of the NYCHA Program, that will allow tenants

         20  of the NYCHA building to be retrained in order to

         21  find jobs, one of the things that I have been after

         22  for five years now, is to make sure that somehow the

         23  Section 3 is implemented finally.

         24                 It is my understanding that the

         25  Chairman of Housing Authority is trying to do that
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          2  and implement that program, which is nothing

          3  different than this same piece of legislation.

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: That is my understanding

          5  as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The same thing.

          7                 Now, the reason I am bringing NYCHA

          8  into this is because I want to ask you, if the

          9  Administration doesn't have a fundamental problem

         10  with this, why has it not been implemented yet in

         11  NYCHA? And why we cannot move that forward?

         12  Particularly when many, many, many jobs that are in

         13  the millions of dollars inside of the NYCHA

         14  facilities, that are federal dollars monies, and why

         15  is it that we cannot implement this here?  If we

         16  would have done it, we would have practiced already

         17  and this bill would not be a problem.

         18                 MS. SIMPSON: I will convey your

         19  request certainly to NYCHA and to the Mayor's

         20  Office.

         21                 As I think you know, NYCHA doesn't

         22  fall within the universe of what I oversee through

         23  the Mayor's Office of Contracts, but we do obviously

         24  have a working relationship with them and I'm aware

         25  of the Councilwoman's interest in the program and I
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          2  will convey that interest.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. Well,

          4  it's the same thing. These two things are the same

          5  thing.

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: I totally understand

          7  that, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the last

          9  point I want to make is, I want to know what is the

         10  take on the Mayor on the question of this bill is

         11  going to absolutely have an impact into the increase

         12  of the skilled job opportunity for people of color

         13  and women specifically.

         14                 Historically we know the truth about

         15  the trades. We know that they have to be sued

         16  because they were discriminating against people of

         17  color and against women. That reality has not

         18  changed, it's only few unions who reflect really the

         19  composition of the people who live in this City.

         20                 This bill would be very important for

         21  communities of color and women. The Mayor is taking

         22  that into consideration when he is looking at this

         23  bill?

         24                 MS. SIMPSON: Absolutely. That is

         25  absolutely a key consideration in our review of this
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          2  bill. In that same vein, one of the things we want

          3  to be absolutely certain about is the ability of the

          4  companies that are owned by minorities and women, as

          5  well as other small businesses that are based in New

          6  York City. We want to be certain that they can

          7  compete in this environment effectively, and that's

          8  the kind of research that we've only begun to do in

          9  the last few days.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, but that's

         11  not the point I'm making.

         12                 MS. SIMPSON: I understand. I think

         13  they're linked.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The point I'm

         15  making is specifically, we are able to put training

         16  and apprenticeship programs, and finally we will see

         17  a real membership composition in some unions in our

         18  City that will reflect their population who live

         19  here today. Until that particular apprenticeship

         20  program is not put in place, I don't see how this is

         21  going to happen.

         22                 MS. SIMPSON: We understand your

         23  concern and obviously that is an issue that we're

         24  looking at closely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I don't

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  have no doubt of that. I see the quality of

          3  understanding of the Mayor's and your offices, and I

          4  am convinced that you do look at this issue.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I would like to

          8  introduce Dr. Kendall Stewart, a member of the

          9  Contracts Committee to my left. Dr. Stewart,

         10  welcome.

         11                 Any other comments? Ms. Simpson,

         12  thank you for coming.

         13                 MS. SIMPSON: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And we look

         15  forward to working with you and your staff on this

         16  particular intro.

         17                 The next individual that wants to

         18  testify is Michael McGuire, representing the Mason

         19  Tenders' District Council.  Mr. McGuire. Oh, three

         20  of them. Timothy Warrington of the Mason Tenders

         21  Training Fund; and Wendy Webb, Mason Tenders'

         22  Training Fund. And also to my right is Council

         23  Member Yvette Clarke, a member of the Contracts

         24  Committee.

         25                 Okay, Mr. McGuire.
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          2                 MR. McGUIRE: Mike McGuire, Mason

          3  Tenders District Council. Thank you, Chairman

          4  Jackson, and distinguished Committee members, for

          5  giving this opportunity to be heard on this bill.

          6                 On the face of it what we're

          7  discussing here today is construction contracts. In

          8  reality the issue is much greater than that. It is

          9  education, economic development, creating employment

         10  opportunities for the youth and underemployed in our

         11  communities and the health and safety of both New

         12  York's working men and women and the public in

         13  general.

         14                 Mr. Chairman is respected across the

         15  state and rightly so for his dedication for

         16  education issues. Bonafide apprenticeship programs

         17  may not be one of the traditional forms of education

         18  that people normally think of, but they are no less

         19  important. In fact, apprenticeship training predates

         20  our public school system by hundreds.

         21                 The Mason Tenders' District Council

         22  believes in formal education and would never

         23  discourage anyone from following that path. However,

         24  not everyone wishes to qualify for, or has the

         25  opportunity to go to college. This is where building
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          2  trades apprenticeship programs play a vital role.

          3                 Among the best paid blue collar

          4  workers, skilled tradesmen and women can earn 50,

          5  60, 75,000 a year or more.

          6                 With the proper skills, a trades

          7  person can go anywhere in the world and earn a

          8  decent living.

          9                 Don't be fooled into thinking that

         10  the skills of the building trades are easily learned

         11  without a structured program, or that certain trades

         12  need vastly less training to become skilled

         13  journeymen than others. Neither is true.

         14                 I represent construction laborers,

         15  what is widely considered a basic trade, as opposed

         16  to mechanical trades, such as electricians or

         17  plumbers. Even so, our apprentices undergo some

         18  4,400 hours of training before reaching journeymen

         19  status. A graduate of a legitimate building trades

         20  apprenticeship program, has received an education

         21  that rivals or is better than any job training

         22  program available today.

         23                 An added benefit comes from the fact

         24  that skilled tradesmen and women often go into

         25  business for themselves.
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          2                 I dare say a majority of construction

          3  companies in business today are owned or operated by

          4  persons who started in the business working with the

          5  tools.

          6                 Our apprentices learn such skills as

          7  construction mathematics and blueprint reading,

          8  which sets them up to move into supervisory and

          9  management positions or puts them on a track to

         10  being independent business persons.

         11                 Passing Intro. 501, which will

         12  increase the number of persons entering and

         13  graduating from bonafide apprenticeship programs,

         14  thus becomes an addition to an education bill and

         15  economic development bill. On another front, New

         16  York State certified apprenticeship programs, which

         17  have regulations on announcing new classes,

         18  distribution of applications and admissions offer

         19  employment opportunities to a more diverse community

         20  than the traditional building trades worker.

         21                 As a matter of fact, the Mason

         22  Tenders' District Council apprenticeship program

         23  students are, by a vast majority, women or persons

         24  of color.

         25                 My colleagues with me today, Wendy
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          2  Webb and Tim Warrington, can answer any questions on

          3  this or other facet of our apprenticeship programs

          4  you may have.

          5                 The final point I want to help on is

          6  health and safety. Construction is among one of the

          7  most dangerous industries in the country. In fact,

          8  during the period of 1992 to 1998, fatalities in the

          9  construction industry increased while fatalities in

         10  every other major industry decreased.

         11                 A well trained educated workforce is

         12  without a doubt the best way to prevent accidents

         13  and injuries.

         14                 I need not go into the litany of

         15  construction actions that have occurred just as this

         16  City Council has been seated.

         17                 As construction work is a transient

         18  industry, in that workers go from one company to

         19  another upon completion of projects, workers who

         20  garner skills through apprentice training will

         21  undoubtedly cross over from public sector jobs to

         22  private sector jobs, making the construction

         23  industry in New York safer than ever.

         24                 In light of these factors, we urge

         25  the City Council to pass Intro. 501 with one caveat,
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          2  we would like the City to use whatever influence it

          3  has with the Office of the Governor, and the New

          4  York State Department of Labor, to ensure that only

          5  bonafide legitimate apprentice programs receive

          6  state certification and those that do not meet state

          7  standards are decertified in a timely manner.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         10                 MS. WEBB: Good afternoon. My name is

         11  Wendy Webb. I am apprentice coordinator at the Mason

         12  Tenders District Council Training Fund. The Mason

         13  Tenders' Apprenticeship program will be six years

         14  old in October of this year. Although the newest of

         15  the apprenticeable trades in the building and

         16  construction trades, we at the Mason Tenders are

         17  extremely proud of how our program has successfully

         18  expanded over the past few years.

         19                 This year, we have thus far accepted

         20  42 apprentices into our program. Our apprenticeship

         21  classes are comprised of roughly 73 percent minority

         22  students and about 14 percent female students. As a

         23  woman who worked in the construction field for 13

         24  years, it thrills me to see more and more women

         25  choosing construction as a career. Properly trained
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          2  workers can command living wages that sustain

          3  families. Women with dependant children not only can

          4  afford the proper child care necessary for full-time

          5  work, but standard industry hours often allow women

          6  who work in construction to spend more time with

          7  their children when they come home from school.

          8                 About one-third of apprentices are

          9  recruited from vocational high schools, and economic

         10  development programs, such as non-traditional

         11  employment for women, Project Pathway and Project

         12  Hire. The other two-thirds are accepted through an

         13  application and interview process. This open

         14  enrollment allows anyone who meets the minimum

         15  requirements to apply.

         16                 What has struck in me during my time

         17  as an apprentice coordinator is the overwhelming

         18  desire and demand for the opportunity to join our

         19  program.

         20                 In the course of a year at least 500

         21  individuals will apply to receive our applications.

         22  Once accepted into our program, apprentices receive

         23  400 hours of classroom training and 4,000 hours of

         24  hands on training in the field. Apprentices are

         25  trained in every aspect of this local's union
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          2  jurisdictional work.

          3                 A construction apprentice, for

          4  example, will work general contracting, demolition,

          5  mason tending, fire watch before entering the field

          6  as a journey level worker. It takes anywhere from

          7  three and a half to four years for the average

          8  apprentice to graduate and our staff provides

          9  ongoing mentoring during this training time in the

         10  field to assure the highest graduation rates

         11  possible. When they graduate our apprentices

         12  generally know more about both the industry and

         13  about health and safety than any generation of

         14  construction workers that came before them.

         15                 Because apprentice training has the

         16  benefit of molding these students from the very

         17  beginning, we can breed a culture of safety

         18  awareness before any apprentice even enters the

         19  field.

         20                 Because of their extensive training

         21  and high skilled level, apprentices on job sites are

         22  assets to contractors. As they are trained to work

         23  safer, smarter, they are changing the future of our

         24  industry.

         25                 I would like to thank the members of
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          2  the Committee for giving me the opportunity to speak

          3  with you today about the Masons' Tenders training

          4  fund program. We at the Mason Tenders training fund

          5  greatly appreciate the efforts of the New York City

          6  Council to create policies that allow a program and

          7  other programs like it to help more and more

          8  individuals realize prosperous careers in the

          9  construction industry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Next.

         11                 MR. WARRINGTON: I don't have any

         12  testimony with me. Just to answer questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Can

         14  you just introduce yourself for the record.

         15                 MR. WARRINGTON: Sure. Timothy

         16  Warrington, apprentice coordinator, Mason Tenders

         17  Training Fund, Local 79.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         19                 My colleagues, the floor is open.

         20                 Council Member Stewart.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You said that

         22  you do general contracting demolition and mason

         23  tender and firewatch, is there any other thing that

         24  deals with your union?

         25                 MS. WEBB: They also do scaffold
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          2  building, fireproofing and plaster tendering. I was

          3  just giving you an example of some of the things

          4  that we do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right. The

          6  other question that I have basically is, after you

          7  go through the apprentice program, they can then

          8  become a member of the union?

          9                 MS. WEBB: Once they are in their

         10  apprentice program, they are considered additional

         11  members, they buy you in books, they pay you in

         12  dues, they are able to go to any union functions,

         13  union meetings, once they graduate they're journey

         14  workers, and that means they may have a little bit

         15  more money and a pension and annuity, but we

         16  considered them members, but they will not get their

         17  full membership status until they complete the

         18  program because they still have an obligation to

         19  fulfill.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Do you know

         21  of any other unions that do the same thing?

         22                 MS. WEBB: Well, I'm really not

         23  concerned with other unions right now. I'm sure they

         24  pretty much fall with similar standards, though.

         25                 MR. WARRINGTON: All the standards may
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          2  differ slightly, but they all do become

          3  journeyworkers when they complete the program.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: See, I'm very

          5  happy that we can put this together because, one of

          6  the things that I campaign on in my district is not

          7  everyone that will go to college, and not everyone

          8  that will become a doctor or even a politician, not

          9  everyone, and we want to have opportunities for some

         10  of these folks who can make some good money by being

         11  in these trades. Because, you know, some people go

         12  into a profession because of the psyche and having a

         13  title and all of that, but others go into it because

         14  they can make a good wage and an honest living by

         15  being in some sort of program like this and get

         16  involved in the unions.

         17                 I'm happy that we can put this

         18  together and seeing you guys have been doing it in

         19  the past. We want to see if everybody can be

         20  involved in it, and anything that the City is doing

         21  they should be involved with apprentice programs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you, Dr.

         23  Stewart.

         24                 Council Member Clarke and Council

         25  Member Lopez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 Good afternoon.

          5                 I'm going to raise two questions with

          6  you, because they were just recently raised with me,

          7  and as a politician, of course, I fluffed my way

          8  through it, but I think it's important that we get

          9  it on the record so that as we move forward with

         10  this legislation we can bear certain factors in

         11  mind.

         12                 To any of your knowledge, do you

         13  anticipate any reluctance on the part of the

         14  contracting community to this legislation

         15  contractors, in particular?

         16                 MR. WARRINGTON: We've met with our

         17  contractors. We've had overwhelming support from

         18  them. They've been asking us, they're ready for it,

         19  they're excited for it. Through the apprenticeship

         20  they get a -- see, we're new at this, the laborers,

         21  the other trades are a lot more advanced than we

         22  are.

         23                 However, our contractors are very

         24  eager, they're used to dealing with this in the past

         25  with other trades, they're excited for it, they get
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          2  safer workers, they get people who are more willing

          3  to stay in the industry, people who are willing to

          4  develop careers.

          5                 These are not just jobs, this is not

          6  the Gap. No offense. But these are careers, and our

          7  employers are very -- they want people who are going

          8  to stay around. They don't want transient workers

          9  who just come in for six months and disappear. They

         10  want people who are going to last, and this way they

         11  can develop with them through their years of

         12  apprenticeship and into their journey worker level.

         13                 So, we see no hesitation from our

         14  employers at all.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Have you

         16  experienced any significant challenges in terms of

         17  continuity of those who are apprentices that have

         18  now become journeypersons?

         19                 MR. WARRINGTON: Well, one of the

         20  important parts to notice for us is that we've had,

         21  our graduates have kept themselves employed so much

         22  more than our traditional journeyworkers who just

         23  became journeyworkers off the street and then gained

         24  their experience that way.

         25                 Our graduates have gone on and they
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          2  are supers, well we have one as a super on a

          3  short-term project which is great, we have four of

          4  them are working as foremen, and we've only had 21

          5  graduates, we're not even six years old.

          6                 We have four that are working as

          7  foremen and we have another five that are already

          8  working as shop stewards which is a big role in the

          9  construction industry as well.

         10                 We haven't had a problem with that,

         11  no. They advanced very well from the program, and

         12  when they had mentioned the mentoring aspect of it.

         13  It's very difficult to get into construction and be

         14  out there on your own. So, going through this

         15  program and going through with another group of

         16  people, they're more prepared when they complete the

         17  program than the traditional journey worker, as a

         18  laborer that is.

         19                 MS. WEBB: They tend to show more of a

         20  commitment from the very beginning, so usually the

         21  contractors like to hold onto them once they finish.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And then

         23  finally, what has been your experience in terms of

         24  response from the various communities in which you

         25  recruit, and I'd also like you to not only break
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          2  that down in terms of the general population, but

          3  specifically women and what their response has been?

          4                 MR. WARRINGTON: Well, we reach out to

          5  new, or we have a working relationship with new, as

          6  well as women who come on their own, or through

          7  employers.

          8                 The response is, the industry is,

          9  let's say traditionally women haven't been, filled

         10  the rolls in construction. We find that there are

         11  plenty of women out there that are coming in and are

         12  ready, and their graduation percentage is, if not

         13  better than that, it's equal, and it's not an issue.

         14  I don't know, we've had a good experience with it. I

         15  don't know if I answered the full question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: In terms of

         17  recruitment, do you face any challenges, and I know

         18  you stated, one of you stated just the amount of

         19  applicants compared to the number of positions that

         20  you're able to do.

         21                 Do you see this legislation enabling

         22  your funds to maybe even expand to include more,

         23  because it seems to me that you have a lot of

         24  interest out there. Now, I'm aware of some of your

         25  recruitment method, but once the Council members get
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          2  a hold of this thing, you're going to have people

          3  knocking down your doors camping out for three

          4  weeks, that kind of thing. So, give us an indication

          5  of what the recruitment piece is like for you?

          6                 MR. WARRINGTON: Well, the recruitment

          7  piece is interesting, because unlike the Army and

          8  Navy, we don't have to send people out there, these

          9  are programs that are designed, there's a whole

         10  network out there. We give the State 60 days notice,

         11  the Department of Labor, and they agree that that's

         12  the date and that's okay.

         13                 It goes on the Internet, it goes out

         14  to all different community-based organizations, and

         15  they do beat our doors down, they do come the night

         16  before, one of the other trades just had people 48

         17  hours. Were expecting that again in the summer.

         18                 So, people, there is a strong desire

         19  for these jobs. So, reaching out and recruiting for

         20  females, we do get enough applicants out there that

         21  we feel that we find good strong candidates that

         22  will fill our role and meet our needs and meet our

         23  contractor needs.

         24                 MS. WEBB: Now I would like to share

         25  something with you. Like Timothy mentioned earlier,
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          2  some of our journeyworkers at the present time, they

          3  become journeyworkers without going through the

          4  apprenticeship program, and they're coming to us

          5  asking us about the apprenticeship program because

          6  they feel like they're missing something.

          7                 MR. McGUIRE: If I may point out, for

          8  our biggest local and general Local 79, which is

          9  Construction General and Building Laborers, the

         10  number of 14 percent of the apprentices being female

         11  is I don't know how many times the actual number of

         12  the general population of Local 79. It's at least

         13  probably five or six times what the actual

         14  membership is. So, the opportunities, it's certainly

         15  bringing a lot more women into the industry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         17  Lopez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, I don't

         19  think that this is the union that should be

         20  answering the questions that we are asking. I want

         21  to make that clear.

         22                 This is a union that distinguishes

         23  themselves for inclusion, for bringing women inside

         24  of the labor. My concern is the other union who

         25  historically, they needed to be sued. They needed to
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          2  be brought to court in order to fulfill the need of

          3  inclusion, and still today we have that problem. And

          4  this bill is a fantastic bill, but I am concerned

          5  about implementation of it, in all honesty, and I

          6  want to ask you, what is the support of other

          7  unions, besides you for this bill.

          8                 MR. WARRINGTON: Well, obviously I'm

          9  not going to speak on behalf of any other trade. I

         10  do know there is a growing support among the trades

         11  to reach out and they're doing, from the

         12  coordinators that I know, they're working very hard

         13  to increase the rolls of women and minority members.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, no, that's

         15  not the question I'm asking. No.

         16                 MR. WARRINGTON: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That issue they

         18  need to answer. You're right about that. Don't even

         19  address it.

         20                 What I'm talking about is this

         21  particular bill. What is the support for this bill

         22  by the other unions? Because in all honesty, I was

         23  told a couple of years ago when I begin talking

         24  about section three, inside of NYCHA, that some

         25  unions were not in support of what I was doing, and
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          2  that they were not looking at this issue with good

          3  eyes, and it's the same issue, it's the issue of

          4  creating apprenticeship for people to become members

          5  of the union, in that case was only reduced to the

          6  aspects of tenants who live in the NYCHA development

          7  that will benefit from the program.

          8                 Then I'm asking you if you know

          9  besides you, who else supports this bill?

         10                 MR. McGUIRE: Well, at the risk of

         11  getting in trouble with some of my fellow unions,

         12  the carpenters and the painters are supportive of

         13  the bill. I've had discussions with Ed Malloy's

         14  Office who heads the Building Trades Council, and

         15  they are supportive of the bill. The concept of the

         16  bill, they haven't spoken to all of the affiliates

         17  yet. I dare say some of the mechanical trades will

         18  not be as enthusiastic about the bill as we will be

         19  but they will support it in the longrun.

         20                 It's basically the same breakdown as

         21  you know the whole NYCHA thing, the trades campaign,

         22  and the agreement that was just discussed that you

         23  actually brought up, that looks like it's going to

         24  be signed with the Chairman of NYCHA, and it was the

         25  carpenters, the painters and the laborers that were
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          2  the key unions in pulling that agreement together

          3  and creating those jobs for the NYCHA residents.

          4                 Basically that is going to be the

          5  driving force behind this as well. The other unions,

          6  as I say, might not be as enthusiastic as we are,

          7  but they'll come along kicking and screaming.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you. And

          9  I hope that I get the credit for the section three.

         10                 Well, I just had to say it because it

         11  was Margarita Lopez when I was not even a Council

         12  member when --

         13                 MR. McGUIRE: You get the credit from

         14  me, because I had discussions with you on this at

         15  least five years ago. So absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just ask

         18  a couple of questions, if I may.

         19                 How long has your apprenticeship

         20  program been in operation?

         21                 MR. McGUIRE: Five and a half years.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what is the

         23  size of your class. I believe individuals that were

         24  at the press conference today, I believe this is a

         25  new class; is that correct?
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          2                 MS. WEBB: Right.

          3                 MR. WARRINGTON: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How often do you

          5  have a class of new apprentices?

          6                 MR. WARRINGTON: We're in the process

          7  of doing it more often. We've done it in the last

          8  few years about two to three times a year with about

          9  25, seven to 25 people in each class. We're looking

         10  to do smaller groups. But more often.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Smaller groups

         12  but more often.

         13                 MR. WARRINGTON: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, we're

         15  looking in the year of 2004, hopefully you can do it

         16  almost every other month.

         17                 And are you limited in size based on

         18  what situation? Because it appears as though that

         19  you're limited in size; is that correct?

         20                 MR. WARRINGTON: The program is new

         21  and we're growing. We're limited -- we don't want to

         22  throw a bunch of apprentices out there if we're not

         23  ready to carefully watch them develop and grow.

         24                 We don't want to take in 200

         25  overnight just because we have jobs or just because
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          2  we have the opportunity there, and throw out people

          3  who are just not going to make it. We want them to

          4  be groomed to be successes. So, could we take in 200

          5  tomorrow? Yes, we could. Could we do it properly at

          6  this time? No. Come next year, yes I believe we will

          7  be able to with increased staff and increased space.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what is the

          9  first six months like. Give me an overview of the

         10  first six months of an apprentice in your program.

         11                 MR. WARRINGTON: Traditionally we

         12  start off with three weeks of classroom training

         13  which develops OSHA, the New York City Department of

         14  Buildings scaffold class as well. We do a 40-hour

         15  course in mason tendering. We also do sexual

         16  harassment, and most times in the initial three

         17  weeks you also do CPR and First Aid. If you don't do

         18  it within three weeks, they'll do it within the

         19  first six months.

         20                 From there the apprentices are placed

         21  on an out-of-work list. Within the last few years

         22  they get jobs about one to two weeks after their

         23  initial training. They start off and we have a field

         24  coordinator that will also go out to check their

         25  progress. He'll talk to the foreman, the apprentice
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          2  themselves and supervisors and shop stewards, whose

          3  ever on that job, to see where this apprentice may

          4  or may not need help in, mentoring and they'll come

          5  back for classes as well.

          6                 They start off at $16 an hour, 16.05

          7  plus benefits. So, you're talking about people who

          8  come in traditionally off their applications.

          9  Traditionally a good application will have eight

         10  dollars an hour. A good previous job will have $8 an

         11  hour. They immediately double that after their

         12  initial training and benefit.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: While they're in

         14  training for the past three weeks, are they being

         15  paid?

         16                 MR. WARRINGTON: No, they're not being

         17  paid. There's a couple of reasons for that. One,

         18  sometimes you're giving people money who may be just

         19  there to even show up for, even if you gave them $50

         20  a week. In my belief, through our program it works

         21  best that they're willing to show that they're

         22  making that sacrifice. They're not paying for this

         23  education.

         24                 This education will sustain them, as

         25  Michael said, they make 50, 60, 70,000 as a laborer,
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          2  construction craft laborer in the City, without any

          3  question when they complete the program.

          4                 So, to go to classes for three weeks

          5  without paying for it, to be almost guaranteed a

          6  job, we just can't say we guarantee them in case the

          7  construction industry drops them off, but we've

          8  never had anyone completed and not be placed. So, to

          9  make that sacrifice for three weeks I don't think is

         10  an issue where you go to a non, well, let's say a

         11  trade school and spend thousands of dollars and

         12  spend a year or 18 months or six months and not be

         13  guaranteed, and we have a lot of people who go

         14  through those schools and paid a lot of money, and

         15  then come back to us and apply. So, to make that

         16  sacrifice for the three weeks, we feel it's a good

         17  deal to see if they're committed, and we think they

         18  get the better end of that free bargain.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And who is

         20  funding this apprenticeship program?

         21                 MR. WARRINGTON: Contractors and

         22  existing members.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: A combination of

         24  contractors and members?

         25                 MR. WARRINGTON: Correct.

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And is that why

          3  you call it, you're the coordinator of the training

          4  fund?

          5                 MR. WARRINGTON: I'm the coordinator

          6  of the apprenticeship program, don't get me in

          7  trouble, please.

          8                 I'm the apprenticeship coordinator

          9  for the Local 79.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And when an

         11  apprentice graduates from the program, having

         12  approximately 4,400 hours of practical and classroom

         13  training.

         14                 They will graduate and they will no

         15  longer be an apprentice but will be -- what is the

         16  title?

         17                 MR. WARRINGTON: The title is a

         18  journeyworker. A skilled construction craft laborer

         19  or journeyworker.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What type of

         21  license or certificate do they have in order to show

         22  that they have accomplished the level of journeyman?

         23                 MR. WARRINGTON: New York State will

         24  give them a certificate of completion.

         25                 We'll give them one as well. Through
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          2  the course of the apprenticeship they'll start off

          3  with getting the certificates from OSHA, from the

          4  New York City Department of Buildings, countless

          5  other ones, from Laborers AGC.

          6                 MS. WEBB: The Fire Department.

          7                 MR. WARRINGTON: From the Fire

          8  Department.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That they have

         10  completed this training in that specific area?

         11                 MS. WEBB: Right.

         12                 MR. WARRINGTON: The specific areas

         13  and then the general diploma from the State and from

         14  the trainer fund, and then the local recognizes them

         15  as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And so the

         17  program that you have, going back has been approved

         18  by the New York Department of Labor; is that

         19  correct?

         20                 MR. WARRINGTON: Yes. You say City,

         21  State?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Department of

         23  Labor.

         24                 MR. WARRINGTON: Okay.

         25                 MR. McGUIRE: Could I just jump back
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          2  for a second before Councilman Stewart?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure.

          4                 MR. McGUIRE: When you asked about the

          5  funding for the program, Dr. Simpson from the

          6  Mayor's Office of Contracts stated that they were

          7  looking at the fiscal impact of this.

          8                 You know, these are Public Works

          9  projects so prevailing wage is supposed to be paid.

         10  Prevailing wage is virtually the same as the union

         11  wage and benefit package.

         12                 The cost of these apprenticeship

         13  programs are built into the benefit package already.

         14  So, if the companies are paying the prevailing wage

         15  they're mandated to do so by City law, there should

         16  be no impact fiscally on the City to require this

         17  additional training. It certainly makes no impact on

         18  the union, because it's contributed by the

         19  contractors as part of that wage and benefit package

         20  that is virtually the same as the prevailing wage

         21  and benefit package.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         23  Stewart.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just wanted

         25  some clarity on your relationship with trade
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          2  schools. Can you tell me if there's any relationship

          3  or if there's any connection? Because some of these

          4  trade schools I feel even after someone who may not

          5  have gotten an opportunity to be an apprentice

          6  program where they don't have to pay anything, they

          7  may pay to go to a trade school and then they're

          8  left hanging there, even though they finish with the

          9  trade school, and I'm hoping you have some sort of

         10  connection there where they can then be valued and

         11  also work with you guys who are in the business

         12  already.

         13                 MR. WARRINGTON: We have no connection

         14  with them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What I'm

         16  saying is that assuming that I have ten guys who

         17  want to join, get the apprentice program, you could

         18  not accommodate the ten, but you can accommodate

         19  four or five. The rest may get a scholarship from me

         20  or somebody to go to a trade school. They finish the

         21  trade school but they're left hanging. I was

         22  wondering if there's any connection there, if

         23  there's a way that they can then link up with the

         24  unions to get into the unions that easily get jobs

         25  or whatever. Or they might come into your system
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          2  whereby you would then evaluate them, and before you

          3  really move them on to be full members. So, I just

          4  want to know if there's some sort of connection

          5  there.

          6                 MR. WARRINGTON: We'll recognize

          7  previous training coming from trade schools, coming

          8  from other trades.  And previous work experience,

          9  we'll give them credit for that, as long as it meets

         10  our guidelines, as long as it meets our standards.

         11  We don't want to see -- we want to see legitimate

         12  diplomas, certificates, and real training

         13  experience. We're not just going to give you credit

         14  because you have something that says, oh, I took

         15  this course, but coming from a recognized school,

         16  and if not from a recognized school we'll go and

         17  look into it to see if we can give credit. We want

         18  to give previous training. It's an advantage to us

         19  to have someone come in with previous training.

         20  Certainly. So, I don't see it as an issue. We're not

         21  going to turn our backs to this person that is left

         22  hanging there.

         23                 MS. WEBB: I think that may be a

         24  conflict because in trade schools they're not

         25  trained on a job. They only have the theory. Our

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  apprenticeship programs they get the theory and the

          3  hands on.

          4                 So, having theory is one thing, but

          5  being able to perform is another, so there may be a

          6  conflict there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, my

          8  question basically is whether you would make

          9  allowances for those guys to join your

         10  apprenticeship program.

         11                 MS. WEBB: Well, everybody is allowed

         12  to get an application.

         13                 MR. McGUIRE: And if I may make a

         14  point, I mean one of the points of this bill is the

         15  City requires on Public Works, there will be more

         16  apprentices needed, it will expand the apprentice

         17  programs, there will be more apprentices needed,

         18  there will be more slots opening up for everybody.

         19                 So, this helps us go a long way

         20  towards that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I was talking to

         22  some of the apprentices earlier. Some of them said

         23  that they had to wait a long time to get an

         24  application; can you explain to me as a layperson,

         25  an application, shouldn't anybody just receive an
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          2  application?

          3                 MR. WARRINGTON: That would be

          4  wonderful for people to just get applications,

          5  however, we do have to interview everyone who does

          6  get an application.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

          8                 MR. WARRINGTON: Therefore the burden

          9  would be, we could give everyone an application if

         10  we wanted to hire ten people full time to go through

         11  the interview process, so, therefore, there's

         12  limitations on how many applications we can give

         13  out. The process does take time, certainly faster

         14  than some civil servants jobs.

         15                 The group that you met earlier, they

         16  got their applications January 17th, and they waited

         17  overnight and they got them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Waited overnight

         19  to do what?

         20                 MR. WARRINGTON: To get the

         21  applications.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You don't have

         23  applications on line?

         24                 MS. WEBB: No.

         25                 MR. WARRINGTON: No.
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          2                 MS. WEBB: You have to be on line and

          3  handed one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many do you

          5  give out?

          6                 MR. WARRINGTON: We give out,

          7  depending on the need we give out -- the last time

          8  we gave out 300, this summer we'll probably give out

          9  a few more.

         10                 I want you to understand something,

         11  the reason why we're going to give out more, is more

         12  for our own physical safety, and I don't think

         13  that's the issue for this hearing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You give out 300

         15  applications, and when you get there and you're

         16  about to give out the applications at 7:00 a.m., and

         17  there's 500 people there, and no matter what you

         18  tell them and the postage you put up, they believe

         19  they get that application they've got a job. So,

         20  thank God for the New York Police Department for

         21  being there on January 17th, there were two officers

         22  there and with their lights on to save us from 200

         23  other people. That didn't get applications. So,

         24  that's why you have to limit it, and that's why we

         25  have to give out a couple hundred at a time. We may
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          2  not have those spots, and we have to interview them

          3  as quickly as possible too.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Obviously

          5  there's a need for obviously this apprenticeship

          6  program, especially with your union, because if you

          7  had 500 people there, there was obviously 200 people

          8  more than the applications you were given out, and

          9  your class was only what number?

         10                 MR. WARRINGTON: Well, we've already

         11  taken in another 25 previous to those 18.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is there an

         13  application fee that they have to pay?

         14                 MR. WARRINGTON: No, not at this time.

         15  We don't foresee that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And with your

         17  contract, or with your registration of your

         18  apprenticeship program with the State of New York,

         19  does it have any actual contract with the State of

         20  New York, to certify your program? A certain

         21  percentage would be women, a certain percentage

         22  would be minority, anything like that?

         23                 MR. WARRINGTON: We've never had an

         24  issue with it. We've had a gentleman that comes

         25  around from the New York State EEOC, he comes down
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          2  and visits us once a month -- not once a month, I'm

          3  sorry, about once every six months or so. It's never

          4  even been an issue to be addressed, our members, you

          5  can see 73 percent minorities, 14 percent female,

          6  it's not even something that we even thing about.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, as I'm

          8  looking at, Mike McGuire, I'm looking at your

          9  testimony, you say we represent a diverse workforce,

         10  that includes Building Construction Laborers; what

         11  is a laborer? What is a mason tender, for someone as

         12  a layperson myself?

         13                 MR. McGUIRE: Yes. I get this all the

         14  time. A mason tender is, in simpler terms, somebody

         15  who tends the masons, the masons being bricklayers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         17                 MR. McGUIRE: The mason tender

         18  buildings a scaffolding, the brick layers mixes

         19  mortar, loads the scaffolding with brick and block,

         20  basically sets up so that the bricklayers, who I

         21  won't go into because there's generally ill-will

         22  between the laborers and the bricklayers, so the

         23  bricklayers have to move as little as possible to do

         24  the work. Our guys move as much as possible.

         25                 But that's actually kind of a
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          2  misnomer, because I don't know what percentage, Tim

          3  might know, of our members are actually employed as

          4  mason tenders these days, because there is not that

          5  much brick work that there used to be years ago. So,

          6  it's more I think general conditions, probably and

          7  demolition that takes up more employees than actual

          8  mason tenders.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have any

         10  other questions?

         11                 I want to thank you for coming and

         12  giving your testimony.

         13                 And next we have John Kennedy, the

         14  Chair of the New York State Apprenticeship and

         15  Training Council.

         16                 Welcome, Mr. Kennedy.

         17                 MR. KENNEDY: My name is John M.

         18  Kennedy. I received a call from the State of New

         19  York about 5:00 last night asking me if I would

         20  attend this afternoon's meeting, and give some

         21  testimony. I am the Chair of the New York State

         22  Apprenticeship. I'm the President of the Nassau

         23  Suffolk Building Trades, which is a make-up of 36

         24  different local unions, and 60,000 menders, and I'm

         25  delighted to come here because it's a subject that
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          2  I'm passionate about.

          3                 I'm a product of an apprenticeship

          4  program, I graduated from an apprenticeship program

          5  from the IBEW, the electrical workers, and beyond my

          6  wildest dreams did I ever think that when I became

          7  an apprentice, that some day I would become a

          8  business agent, and would finally become the

          9  business manager, the head of the local that I

         10  served the apprenticeship position in and moved on

         11  to become the head of the building trades of all of

         12  those 36 local unions. So, I'm a product of

         13  apprenticeship.

         14                 Also, I have a whole list of

         15  different entities that I was involved in lobbying

         16  for to pass this language and this legislation, and

         17  in the presentation of the text I wrote a little

         18  something up, and I'll just read it, it's just one

         19  page. And it states that the state enacted Local Law

         20  16-B which states that any public entity, fire

         21  district, municipal corporation and the like may

         22  require on any construction contract all contractors

         23  and subcontractors to have state-approved

         24  apprenticeship programs.

         25                 The New York Labor Law, Article 8,
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          2  Section 220, requires that prevailing wages and

          3  fringe benefits be paid on all Public Work projects.

          4  By virtue of having an apprenticeship program, this

          5  becomes a cost savings to the public and at the same

          6  time providing a career, other than going to

          7  college.

          8                 Currently Suffolk County, Nassau

          9  County, the towns of Huntington, Oyster Bay,

         10  Greenlawn Water District, Nassau Regional Off Track

         11  Betting and the Nassau County Industrial Development

         12  Agency have voted and adopted this language, and

         13  that's the apprenticeship language.

         14                 I heard some of the questions that

         15  were presented by you, to the people that were given

         16  testimony and you spoke about how do contractors,

         17  how do some contractors view this legislation, and

         18  it's been my experience that legitimate contractors,

         19  whether they're union or non-union, because there

         20  are some non-union apprenticeship programs that are

         21  legitimate, the vast majority of them that are

         22  non-union are illegitimate, and by my saying that,

         23  what happens is, and it's been an awful lot of

         24  deregistrations and decertifications of programs

         25  that were non-union, and the reason for it was they
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          2  never allowed anybody to graduate as a journey

          3  person, and that's what you strive for if you're an

          4  apprentice.

          5                 Again, if I could share some

          6  experience with you, in my travels, or my life

          7  coming from an apprentice and raising a family, I

          8  raised six kids, and I educated all six of them,

          9  some of them came into the trade and some of them

         10  furthered their education. I had one boy that was a

         11  little bit wayward, and I said to him, you know what

         12  I'm going to do? I'm going to put you in a

         13  construction job where you've really got to work

         14  hard, and boy that kid did, and he went back to

         15  college and he's an attorney now.

         16                 So, apprenticeship, you know, for me

         17  meant so much. And that's why I'm really passionate

         18  about it and I couldn't wait to become a journey

         19  person.

         20                 And what it also taught me was, is

         21  how to be responsible. When I was an apprentice, I

         22  had to be to work on time, I had to be responsible,

         23  I learned an awful lot of respect for my elder

         24  journeymen, things have changed a little bit, I

         25  guess our whole society, but at the time that's what
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          2  it taught me.

          3                 I have one of my boys graduated from

          4  an apprenticeship program, he furthered his

          5  education and he's an electrical engineer, and he's

          6  an estimater and a project manager now. But it all

          7  started off from apprenticeship.

          8                 The IBEW and the local that I came

          9  out of was probably one of the first local unions to

         10  take women into the workplace, and I've got to tell

         11  you, it was tough. I'm talking about 20 years ago.

         12  And those gals, when they came in, I'll tell you, it

         13  used to break my heart. And I used to go out and

         14  really raise hell on the jobs and tell them they

         15  needed to respect those girls, because I had three

         16  girls of my own that never would I ever want them --

         17  so this whole thing has been around for awhile and

         18  it's really evolved.

         19                 One of those girls that first came to

         20  our program 20 years ago, is a contractor now. Very,

         21  very, very successful. And a real power example. Any

         22  apprenticeship community, we probably have over

         23  1,000 different programs that are apprenticeship. I

         24  didn't realize that there were so many different, a

         25  librarian, a locksmith, and I could go on and on and
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          2  on and these are apprentice of trades.

          3                 The Building Trades prides themselves

          4  in apprenticeship, and somebody said before, most of

          5  the building trades embrace this apprenticeship

          6  language. I can tell you that probably 99 percent of

          7  them do.

          8                 Out on Long Island, I can tell you

          9  100 percent do. In New York City I can tell you the

         10  vast majority embrace this whole concept.

         11                 The other thing is, is I don't think

         12  our school systems guidance counselors tell our

         13  young people about what a golden opportunity that

         14  they have, to learn something where it doesn't cost

         15  them anything. Most trades that are in construction,

         16  a young apprentice gets paid as soon as they start

         17  work.

         18                 Usually their first year they're on

         19  some kind of a probation to see whether they're

         20  going to stick, because there is a big investment

         21  made.

         22                 Most trades, the trades that I come

         23  out of, the work is paid for the education, it's by

         24  virtue of a wage, part of a fringe benefit, but it's

         25  a wage that comes out of the journeyperson's pay to

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  pay for the future workforce for the future. That's

          3  where the money comes. It doesn't come from the

          4  contractor, it comes out of the working man's

          5  pocket, and that's an investment in future

          6  generations in the building trade.

          7                 The other thing is, is if it's a

          8  prevailing rate job, and a person doesn't have an

          9  apprenticeship program, you have to pay all the

         10  people that work on the job journeyman's wages. It's

         11  very, very cost effective, especially according to

         12  the ratio that you may have, whether the ratio might

         13  be three journeymen to one apprentice, when you take

         14  both of those wages and factor in the apprentices,

         15  it brings down the whole wage thing, so, if anybody

         16  tells you that it's going to be more costly, it's

         17  cost effective and it's a better way of doing it.

         18                 I would have prepared a lot better in

         19  giving you more background, but I did receive a call

         20  last night at 5:00. I did bring along, for whatever

         21  it's worth, I do have some of the language that I'd

         22  be willing to pass on to you people that we have in

         23  all of those different entities that we lobbied to

         24  have this put in, and I'd be glad to answer

         25  questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I want to thank

          3  you for coming in on such short notice and sharing

          4  with us your experience, not only as an apprentice

          5  and now as the Chair of the New York State

          6  Apprenticeship and Training Counsel. Hearing your

          7  insight from an experienced point of view is very,

          8  very important, knowing that you said that the cost

          9  factor involved would not be more but would be less

         10  by having apprenticeship programs as far as the City

         11  of New York dealing with contractors.

         12                 Who would be opposed to, in your

         13  opinion, to the City of New York requiring

         14  contractors to have a state certified apprenticeship

         15  program? Who would be opposed to that, in your

         16  opinion?

         17                 MR. KENNEDY: I really can't think of

         18  anybody. But I would want to -- I know on Long

         19  Island and both Nassau and Suffolk County, we

         20  embrace the whole thing and, again, like I said

         21  before, our best competition is somebody that's

         22  going to have the same cost as us.

         23                 If a person is a non-union -- an

         24  apprenticeship program is a very, very costly item

         25  for a union to run. When you think about the
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          2  building that you have to provide, when you think

          3  about the instructors that you have to provide, when

          4  you think about the material that you have to

          5  provide, all of those things are very, very costly.

          6  So, for a non-union contractor, that's going to be a

          7  cost to him, but if he wants to have that cheaper

          8  labor, then he's going to have to provide some kind

          9  of legitimate system of getting schooling, so the

         10  biggest thing is legitimacy.

         11                 And on and on and on and you can

         12  check the State Labor Department, the

         13  deregistrations and decertifications, all the time,

         14  because of illegitimate programs, and it's really,

         15  really a tragedy and I believe it should be a

         16  punishable crime to have somebody and put them into

         17  a program and just exploit them for a year and then

         18  have no way for them to continue, it's really

         19  criminal.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Questions? Dr.

         21  Stewart.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I don't know

         23  if you had time to read the intro, this bill, 501,

         24  but do you know of any bills that you may have in

         25  the state level, if there are any bills in the state
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          2  level, New York State level?

          3                 You see, this bill is basically just

          4  going to be working just for the City, but we are

          5  looking to see if there is one on the state level

          6  that can be coordinated. So, anybody who works for

          7  the state or the City -- we've been trying to get

          8  the dormitory authority, the school construction

          9  authority to embrace this. And we've been lobbying

         10  for it. I believe that probably within a year's time

         11  you may see it in those state agencies. But I gave

         12  an example, and I think it's graphic illustration of

         13  both Nassau County and Suffolk County which, you

         14  know, a large population areas, both of them have

         15  embraced it, plus all of the other towns, Off Track

         16  Betting, a water district, some school districts

         17  have embraced it. But to answer you, I don't know of

         18  any state entity that has done it yet.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What are the

         21  equal employment goals for certified apprenticeship

         22  programs now and from DOL, or more specifically with

         23  the state share, is that correct?

         24                 MR. KENNEDY: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You said you
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          2  oversee apprenticeship union programs?

          3                 MR. KENNEDY: Yes. Union and

          4  non-union.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And non-union.

          6                 MR. KENNEDY: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you

          8  elaborate on the equal opportunity goals for the

          9  certified?

         10                 MR. KENNEDY: It usually goes by

         11  region. Many of our local unions are in excess or

         12  supersede the goals. I'll give you an example. One

         13  of our locals, 1298, construction labor, heavy

         14  construction labor, probably 75 percent of his

         15  membership are minority and women. So, I believe the

         16  local --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have a

         18  goal, a percentage goal, or just it turned out that

         19  way?

         20                 MR. KENNEDY: No, we have a goal.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And as far as

         22  your recruitment, where do you recruit the

         23  minorities and women? Do you put the word out, and

         24  do you go obviously to areas of Long Island? You

         25  know, you have certain geographical areas where
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          2  minorities live more so than others.

          3                 MR. KENNEDY: And we go into those

          4  areas, such as Riverhead, Wine Branch, Freeport, we

          5  go into the community and we recruit.

          6                 Also, the Nassau Suffolk Building

          7  Trades applied for a New York State grant to do

          8  recruitment and training, preconstruction training

          9  for women. We received a $5 million grant, and we've

         10  been working on that grant for over two years and

         11  we've trained an awful lot of women already to bring

         12  them into construction.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, overall,

         14  knowing what we're trying to do, as the Chair of the

         15  New York State Apprenticeship and Training Council,

         16  you're in favor of it?

         17                 MR. KENNEDY: Certainly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'd like to

         19  introduce my colleague David Yassky, a member of the

         20  Contracts Committee, from Brooklyn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         22  much, Chair Jackson, and I just want to make my

         23  apologies to you and members of the Committee and to

         24  the witnesses that have spoken already. I was

         25  attempting a hearing of the Government Operations
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          2  Committee on a bill that I introduced and I felt

          3  that I needed to be there to speak in favor of it.

          4                 So, you know, with my bills people

          5  typically need a lot of persuading, so I felt I had

          6  to be there for that.

          7                 But I want to just express my very

          8  strong support for Intro. 501, and thank you and

          9  commend your leadership on it. I think we need a

         10  diverse economy in the City, we need to have job

         11  opportunities along the range of possible employment

         12  areas, and we have to be doing more to train New

         13  York City residents to work in the fields that are

         14  available here, and I think this is just an ideal

         15  way to do it. And I support your bill entirely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Kennedy, I want to thank you for

         18  coming in and providing testimony, and please stay

         19  in contact with us and if you have any other

         20  suggestions, please share those with us.

         21                 MR. KENNEDY: I'll leave a couple of

         22  business cards with you, and call on me any time you

         23  can.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 I would like to next call Ms. Rita

          3  Schwartz, from the General Contractors Association

          4  of New York.

          5                 Ms. Schwartz.

          6                 Good afternoon, Ms. Schwartz.

          7                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Welcome.

          9                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Yes, it is afternoon.

         10                 My name is Rita Schwartz, I'm the

         11  Director of Government Relations for the General

         12  Contractors Association of New York, and the

         13  question was asked earlier, does the contracting

         14  community support this bill? And I'm here to say

         15  unequivocally, yes, we do.

         16                 I represent the general contractors,

         17  I represent the heavy construction contractors in

         18  New York since 1901. Our 120 contractor members had,

         19  since its founding, we construct the tunnels, the

         20  bridges, the subways, the highways, utilities,

         21  sewers, the largest Public Works Projects in the

         22  City of New York, and we do this all, every one of

         23  our contractors only work through union trades,

         24  construction trades.

         25                 Our members are all union contractors
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          2  who work primarily for public owners such as the MTA

          3  or the City DOT or State DOT, or the Port Authority

          4  and we work through open competitive bidding.

          5                 And this bill, we believe, will

          6  assure that the contractors who do City work, will

          7  continue to provide the best quality workmanship

          8  possible and will create the most highly skilled

          9  workforce and a safer work environment.

         10                 It will give job stability to I'm

         11  sure New York City workers.

         12                 As we see the young apprentices

         13  coming into the program, we see them as New York

         14  City residents. We want to keep them in New York

         15  City. We want them to earn a decent living wage. The

         16  apprentice programs that we represent, the trades

         17  that we represent, including the Operating

         18  Engineers, include the Carpenters. They pay their

         19  apprentices a beginning wage of $20 an hour plus

         20  benefits for a three or four year training program,

         21  and those young people are going to become stable

         22  members of New York City. They're going to pay their

         23  income taxes, they're going to shop, they're going

         24  to get health benefits, they're going to raise their

         25  families here because they're going to get a living
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          2  wage, and they're going to be stable, and they're

          3  going to be safe.

          4                 We want those kinds of workers on our

          5  jobs because we want to finish our jobs quickly,

          6  safely and under budget, and the stronger the labor

          7  force is, the better off we can be in keeping our

          8  commitment to the public owner.

          9                 Nobody likes a delay on a job, nobody

         10  likes to see young people or any of our workers get

         11  hurt on the roadway, so the apprenticeship programs

         12  are enormously important to us, as a human factor

         13  and as an economic factor.

         14                 We are absolutely committed to

         15  helping young people stay in New York and staying in

         16  the job market. We will go ourselves with the trades

         17  into the schools. We have talked to middle schools,

         18  trying to convince youngsters that there is a job

         19  out there for them, if they have a different career

         20  path, we'll go to vocational schools, we'll go to

         21  some of the special schools. Many of our contractors

         22  do mentoring in from the high schools, like the

         23  School for the Physical City down near the Trade

         24  Center where we work with tenth and 11th graders to

         25  say don't leave school, don't drop out. There is a
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          2  job out there for you. And there's a career more

          3  than just a job. Because once they become part of

          4  that community, and I don't say brotherhood anymore,

          5  because we're glad to say there's a lot more women

          6  in this than when I first looked around, but once

          7  they become part of the community of the

          8  construction trade, they have support, they have

          9  counseling, they have people who will work with

         10  them, and that includes us as the contractor, who

         11  worked very closely with the trades.

         12                 We do want to note that there are

         13  several trades that don't have apprenticeship

         14  programs. Just because of the particular job skill

         15  sets that are needed for those trades, and I would

         16  urge you when you look at the language of the bill

         17  to see how you would accommodate for those, some

         18  trades, such as the teamsters, for example, have

         19  excellent on-the-job training programs, but don't

         20  necessarily require the kind of three or four-year

         21  program that, for example, the operating engineers

         22  who use heavy equipment would require. So, there are

         23  exceptions in the language that I would urge you to,

         24  at least we would be happy to work with you when you

         25  begin to draft more specifically.
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          2                 But the state-approved programs have

          3  very strong standards and produce very well trained

          4  workers. There is strong industry support, I don't

          5  know one of my contractors that would argue with

          6  this bill, because it makes better safety sense for

          7  them and better economic sense. It enhances our

          8  reputation to be able to get a job done.

          9                 As many of you know, all of the

         10  trades that were down at the Trade Center since

         11  9/11, not one accident, all under budget. We

         12  finished that extraordinary job down there through

         13  the astounding work of the heavy construction

         14  trades.

         15                 And those are all young people, and

         16  not so young people anymore, who worked wonderfully

         17  24/7 and had terrific OSHA training, understanding

         18  of your equipment. If you had watched some of them

         19  do some of that demolition work, using that heavy

         20  equipment, they worked with sensitivity, they looked

         21  like they were doing a ballet at some point because

         22  they really understood how to handle their equipment

         23  and how to work in precarious situations without

         24  causing any danger to themselves or others.

         25                 So, we are very, very supportive of
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          2  the apprenticeship programs. It's good for us, it's

          3  good for the City, it's good for the young people

          4  coming forward and we appreciate your introducing

          5  the bill, and you have our full support on it.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you for

          8  coming forward and giving testimony on behalf of

          9  your organization.

         10                 The floor is open to my colleagues.

         11                 Council Member Stewart?

         12                 Well, let me just ask this question,

         13  I've asked it before of those other witnesses: Who,

         14  in your opinion, would be opposed to this particular

         15  bill, which would become law if we had our --

         16                 MS. SCHWARTZ: There could be some

         17  other contractors who are non-union who picked up

         18  young workers on the streets. Those are dangerous.

         19  The day workers that are out there don't get any

         20  training, are not protected, they I think probably

         21  of anyone, maybe of some of the smaller contractors

         22  who work for the private sector might be opposed to

         23  this. They're not within my membership, so I don't

         24  have those conversations, but that might be my

         25  guess.
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          2                 Anyone that deals with a construction

          3  trade that has a safe stable workforce is not going

          4  to be opposed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, your group,

          6  the General Contractors Association of New York,

          7  this will also include all of the subcontractors

          8  that are involved with your general contractor?

          9                 MS. SCHWARTZ: It could, depending on

         10  if the owner, if the City of New York says to the

         11  job, this is what is required. For example, if we

         12  hire truckers, they're all teamsters, and that makes

         13  a very important decision. If one of my contractors

         14  hires subs that are non-union, I would be surprised,

         15  but I think that, again, would make the difference,

         16  if it's a union or a non-union job.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And then you

         18  stated in your testimony there may be certain

         19  situations that an apprenticeship program may not be

         20  appropriate.

         21                 I want you, if you don't mind, just

         22  exploring that a little bit more. Not necessarily

         23  now, but with Robert Newman, our General Counsel, to

         24  flush that out.

         25                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Yes, we'd like to work
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          2  on that concept, because we don't want to penalize

          3  some of the trades that do have very good in-service

          4  training programs or on-the-job training, but don't

          5  necessarily have the need for the four-year

          6  apprenticeship program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We want to try

          8  to have a law that's going to be workable for

          9  everyone.

         10                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Yes. And we will work

         11  with you on it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Any other

         13  questions or comments?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         16  Stewart.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Mr. Chair, I

         18  just wanted to know if this bill would include like

         19  the garages that take care of the City vehicles, you

         20  know, to deal with people who become mechanics, or

         21  even the contracted companies that take care of the

         22  repairing of the computers or the machinery,

         23  whatever?

         24                 What I'm trying to get at is this

         25  bill should have, I think it says 100,000, and I
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          2  just wanted to know that not only building trades

          3  but any type of contract that we need service --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: This bill is

          5  dealing specifically with construction contracts,

          6  and I think what it does, it mirrors the legislation

          7  of the State bill. We have not gone to say that

          8  every contract, whether it's service or other, are

          9  included in. So, right now this bill is only dealing

         10  specifically with construction at this particular

         11  moment.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So we would

         13  need to go back some time later and deal with those,

         14  for example, garages that really take care of all of

         15  the cars for the City, they get a contractor to

         16  repair all these cars with millions of dollars and

         17  we want to know that they're training youngsters, or

         18  you have the taking care of computers in all the

         19  buildings, City buildings, whatever, and we want to

         20  know then they're taking care in terms of helping

         21  youngsters to become employees on a permanent basis,

         22  and that's what I'm looking at, so we may have to

         23  look at that even further.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All right. Well,

         25  thank you. You and I and others will explore that,
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          2  because obviously that's an important issue.

          3                 Council Member Yassky.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

          5  Just one quick question.

          6                 Ms. Schwartz.

          7                 MS. SCHWARTZ: I live in Brooklyn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, indeed.

          9                 It's my understanding that for the

         10  most part apprenticeship programs are paid for out

         11  of the prevailing wage, out of essentially the dues

         12  paid, and, so, if the contractors are paying

         13  prevailing wages they're supposed to, then this

         14  should not impose any cost on the City.

         15                 MS. SCHWARTZ: That's true. It comes

         16  out of benefit package.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Employers'

         18  side as well.

         19                 MS. SCHWARTZ: From the benefit

         20  package.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: All right. I

         22  just wanted to commend you and your association, as

         23  you always have been, for enlightened leadership

         24  from the employers side, and I want to credit you

         25  for that.
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          2                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Thank you. It works

          3  best for us to have a good work force.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Our next witness is Norman Titus, the

          7  district Council No. 9 of the International Union of

          8  Painters and Odd Lot Trades.

          9                 MR. TITUS: Good afternoon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good afternoon.

         11                 MR. TITUS: It's nice being here among

         12  friends. I live in Councilman Stewart's district.

         13  I'm a member of his community board. I'm a member of

         14  the community board, Community Board 17 in Brooklyn.

         15  Beside what I do, I'm also Chair of Sanitation

         16  Environmental Committee. So I do a lot of things

         17  beside my painting.

         18                 But we are Painters Union, 100

         19  percent behind you with this. There are a few little

         20  things that we don't like. First, the threshold,

         21  that $100,000 threshold. We think there should be no

         22  cap. We think that any job coming out from

         23  construction, City funds, should have apprenticeship

         24  programs, because to me $100,000 paint job, I could

         25  put five, six guys, you know, every three guys I
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          2  could put an apprentice on that job, five, six guys

          3  a week, two weeks, three weeks, four weeks. Okay, so

          4  $100,000 is a lot of money for my contractors and my

          5  workers.

          6                 Beside that, other than that, there's

          7  no other problem I think.

          8                 We talked about this for a year. A

          9  year ago we talked about this. Because Mr. Pataki's

         10  bill says "may" and your bill says "must," that's

         11  the difference, the must is most important.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I want to thank

         14  you for coming in and giving testimony. And

         15  obviously the issue of the threshold, as you

         16  indicated in your example is important to your

         17  industry, as far as the painters go, $100,000

         18  painting contract, as you indicated, could put

         19  several people to work and apprentice also.

         20                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         21                 Well, please continue to talk to us

         22  on that issue of the threshold.

         23                 MR. TITUS: Yes, all of us will talk.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 MR. TITUS: Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is there anyone

          4  else that wishes to testify this afternoon? Okay,

          5  hearing none, this hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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